



Increasing consumer choice in aged care services

A position paper

Carmel Laragy and Gerry Naughtin

February 2009

Published by

Brotherhood of St Laurence 67 Brunswick Street Fitzroy Vic. 3065 ABN 24 603 467 024

Tel: (03) 9483 1183 Internet: www.bsl.org.au

ISBN 9781 876250 959

© Brotherhood of St Laurence 2009

Apart from fair dealing for the purpose of private study, research, criticism, or review, as permitted under the Copyright Act, No part of this paper may be reproduced by any process without written permission. Enquiries should be addressed to the publisher.

Contents

Summary	v
Introduction	1
Context	1
What is consumer-directed care?	2
International experience of consumer-directed care United Kingdom Sweden Austria United States of America	3 3 5 5 6
Advantages of consumer-directed care Improved responsiveness to individual requirements Cost efficiencies Transparency	8 8 9 10
Implementation issues Promotion, information, planning and support Assessment and resource allocation Financial and account management Support workers Engagement of case managers	10 10 11 11 12 13
Suitability for specific populations CALD populations Indigenous populations Carers	13 13 14 14
Consumer-directed care in Australia An Australian approach Projected uptake rate Informing, supporting and empowering consumers Engagement of case managers Accountability and reporting mechanisms Managing risks and vulnerabilities Workforce issues Scope of reform in Australia Future possibilities	14 15 15 16 17 17 17 17 18 19 19
Recommendations	20
References	21

Summary

The Brotherhood of St Laurence is committed to ensuring that all older Australians age well with dignity and security. Consumer-directed care offers new opportunities to achieve this goal. This paper reviews international and national literature on consumer-directed care and argues that evidence of improved outcomes for consumers and cost efficiencies warrants a trial of this approach in aged care in Australia.

The term *consumer-directed care* is used to describe a mechanism where consumers have direct control over their allocated funds and these can be used flexibly to meet their needs. Services and equipment can be purchased from traditional service agencies, and funds can be used for options outside the formal service system. Consumer-directed care provides greater control and choice to the consumer and reduces reliance on case management services. It is increasingly used in aged care internationally and in the Australian disability sector to promote independence and achieve cost efficiencies.

The need for change and additional options in aged care services is indicated by a number of factors. Demographic changes will increase the number of older Australians needing care in coming decades and this will require optimal use of available resources. Furthermore, there are strong demands from consumers and their advocates to have more choice and control than are currently available. Consumer-directed care provides another option when addressing these issues.

Evaluations of consumer-directed care projects report high consumer satisfaction and improved outcomes. Governments internationally are expanding this approach because it has resulted in greater independence and social participation for consumers, and because of its potential to deliver cost efficiencies. When consumers take a greater role in managing their allocated funds there are potential savings because of the reduced use of case management. Furthermore, when consumers have greater bargaining power they can achieve cost efficiencies by meeting their needs in more flexible and creative ways outside the formal service sector. 'Thinking outside the square' and developing innovative ways to meet needs often lead to improved individual outcomes. Improved outcomes were reported for the person concerned, their family and carers, and support workers.

The literature review identified key features of consumer-directed care projects that contributed to successful outcomes and cost efficiencies. These included: well-informed professional staff with positive attitudes; consumers' access to information and support services; manageable financial accountability requirements; available account-keeping services; protective mechanisms in place for the vulnerable; and support workers with appropriate training and working conditions.

Concerns have been raised in the literature about the possibility of older people, carers and support workers being at increased risk without ongoing supervision from case managers. There were also concerns about less accountability for public funds. To address these concerns, strategies have been developed which include an agreed plan for each person that details activities; regular reviews; support and financial accounting services being available; and having a nominated person responsible for a consumer with cognitive impairment.

This paper argues:

- It is time for consumer-directed care to be trialled in Australia to provide an additional option that would coexist with traditional agency-based services.
- Greater consumer choice could be achieved by the Commonwealth Government working with the aged care sector to develop, trial and evaluate consumer-directed care.
- The Department of Health and Ageing should undertake a pilot project offering 1000 consumer-directed packages in four diverse areas across Australia. Two approaches would be trialled simultaneously: one would use flexible individual budgets and the second would have

portability of funds. Both approaches could be implemented within the framework of the existing funding allocation mechanisms. It is proposed that the trials incorporate a wide range of programs including Community Aged Care Packages (CACPs), Extended Aged Care at Home (EACH), respite care, planned activity groups and residential care services. The aged care industry should be closely involved in planning the trials and regional advisory committees with consumer representation should be established to ensure the relevance and integration of the trials with regional service systems.

- A thorough evaluation needs to be undertaken by independent consultants.
- This initiative should be completed within two years and the findings used to inform future policy development.

The trialling of a consumer-directed care initiative would provide a valuable opportunity to explore the strengths and weaknesses of this approach for the Australian market. Consumer-directed care appears to offer a creative, innovative and effective option to meet the needs of older Australians in the twenty-first century.

Introduction

The Brotherhood of St Laurence is committed to ensuring that all older Australians can age well with dignity and security. It has a long history of service innovation and policy advocacy on ageing issues. This paper considers the desirability of, and possible mechanisms for, increasing consumer choice and control in the aged care system.

This paper examines the concept of consumer-directed care and other strategies for improving consumer choice. It examines national and international experiences from the aged and disability sectors and it considers the applicability of this approach for the Australian aged care system. The term *consumer-directed care* is used to cover a range of mechanisms that give people receiving public support greater control of the funds allocated to meet their care and lifestyle needs. One of the aims of consumer-directed care is to improve the responsiveness, flexibility and effectiveness of human services. It is hoped that this paper will promote debate about strategies to provide more consumer choice in the Australian aged care system.

Internationally, consumer-directed care has been adopted in a number of countries as a strategy to improve individual outcomes and cost efficiencies. Alzheimers Australia has argued for the introduction of consumer-directed care for several years (Tilly & Rees, 2007), and this possibility has attracted much interest within the aged care sector and within governments at the state and national levels.

The challenges posed by the growth of our ageing population and the future costs of care require thinking outside the historical square of policy responses. Consumer-directed care is a policy option worthy of serious consideration in Australia because of the positive outcomes achieved elsewhere. There are a number of implementation challenges, but international and Australian evidence suggests that consumer-directed care could be a worthwhile addition to the current suite of policy responses for our ageing society.

This paper examines the opportunities and challenges of introducing consumer-directed care into the aged care system in Australia. It follows an established tradition of adopting and adapting international models of care for Australian conditions (Howe, 2003). A draft discussion paper was circulated in August 2008 to a selection of stakeholders: industry peak bodies, aged care and carer organisations, and academics. This position paper was informed by their comments, but the views expressed are those of the authors.

Context

Recent Australian reviews of aged care have highlighted the complexity of current program and funding structures and argued for greater flexibility in responses to consumer needs. Significant documents are the Commonwealth of Australia's *Way Forward* (Department of Health and Ageing, 2004a), the Nous Group's *Moving to Centre Stage: Community Care for the Aged over the Next 10 Years* (2006) and the Allen Consulting Group's *Future of Community Care* (2007).

One of the drivers for change and innovation is the demographic changes that are expected to increase the number of Australians needing aged care in coming decades (Productivity Commission, 2007). There are concerns that the current model of aged care will not be financially sustainable due to these demographic changes (Department of Health and Ageing, 2004b; Commonwealth of Australia, 2007). However, it is not only financial concern that is driving change. Australian and international reports show that consumers want more flexibility and control than are currently available (Department of Health, 2007b).

Across Europe and in the United States of America, consumer-directed care projects are expanding in both the aged and disability fields. The rationale for their expansion is that consumers who are capable of and interested in managing their own supports are more likely to find individual ways of meeting their needs and will remain living independently in their homes longer than when supports are provided through traditional agency-based services (Office for Disability Issues, 2008; Wisconsin Department of Health and Human Services, 2008a). This is considered to be a 'win' for consumers and governments when consumers have access to funds that would otherwise have been used for agency infrastructure and staff. Consumer and advocacy groups support consumer-directed care because it increases choice and responsiveness to individuals' needs and results in higher levels of satisfaction (in Control, 2008a).

In the Australian disability sector, consumer-directed care is increasingly being adopted. It has been offered in Western Australian since 1988 through the Local Area Coordination project (Disability Services Commission, 2003). In Victoria, there was a recent trial of *Direct Payments* for people with a wide range of disabilities (LDC Group, 2007). The New South Wales Government is currently trialling consumer-directed care for people with physical disabilities (Fisher & Campbell McLean, 2007). Alzheimers Australia has argued for trialling of consumer-directed care in aged care for several years, and small initiatives have commenced within some agencies (Tilly & Rees, 2007).

What is consumer-directed care?

Consumer-directed care is an individualised approach that provides an alternative to case-managed services provided through service agencies. The consumer is given control over spending their allocated funds. Throughout this paper the term *consumer* is used to include those formally responsible for the welfare of the person receiving support if they do not have legal capacity. Consumer-directed care projects have various names including *direct payments, individual budgets, flexible funding, self-directed care,* and *self-directed supports.* When the term *flexible funding* is used internationally, it has a different meaning from the programmatic understanding of flexible care in Australia. Internationally *flexible funding* is used to describe an approach where consumers have direct control over their allocated funds that can be used flexibly to meet their needs. For the purposes of this study, the authors have adopted the term *consumer-directed care* to include the concepts covered by these other terms.

Guidelines vary, but typically greater choice and control are given to the consumer to purchase services from outside traditional support services as well as from within. There is an emphasis on finding creative and innovative ways to meet needs. All available resources are considered when planning to meet individual needs and preferences, including private and public funds and informal supports. Funds are used to support independence by employing support workers, participating in a wide variety of social activities, and purchasing equipment and technologies. Paid support workers can be recruited from informal networks as well as from the formal service sector.

Consumer-directed care projects often began when people with disabilities demanded to use their allocated money in ways that were not possible through existing service agencies. Since the 1960s, such projects in the US and Canada have supported people with disabilities to live in the community (Hutchison, Lord & Salisbury, 2006). They expanded into Europe and into aged care during the 1990s (Ungerson & Yeandle, 2007).

Projects usually commenced with a pilot that was evaluated and later expanded to become a viable service option alongside traditional agency-based services (Barnes, 2004; Conroy et al., 2002; Hutchison et al., 2006; Lindbloom et al., 2004; Riddell et al., 2006). Projects often encountered implementation challenges when adapting to the needs of their consumer group as well as to specific national and service system requirements. Change has been incremental and has required

policy leadership from government and involvement from service providers and advocacy organisations to be effective.

Ungerson and Yeandle (2007) group consumer-directed care in Europe into three categories:

- individual's funds held by the consumer to employ support workers from all sources including informal networks (family, friends and neighbours)
- individual's funds held by the consumer to recruit and manage support workers from the open labour market, but not from family
- individual's funds held by service provider.

Australian consumer-directed care projects have been categorised similarly, but with two differences (Fisher & Campbell McLean, 2007). First, they do not actively encourage recruitment of family members, although some do allow it. Second, when the consumer holds the funds, some projects require that support workers be engaged from approved service providers and not recruited from the open labour market.

International experience of consumer-directed care

United Kingdom

The UK Government is actively promoting innovative consumer-directed care models in disability and aged care. The drivers for change include escalating costs, rising levels of unmet need and dissatisfaction with traditional service provision (Commission for Social Care Inspection, 2008; Forder, 2007; Wanless & Forder, 2006).

In the disability sector, the *Community Care (Direct Payments) Act 1996* introduced significant change by guaranteeing people with a disability the right to an individual allocation once they were assessed as needing assistance. As power has devolved from the central government to England, Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales, many implementation differences have evolved.

England is the strongest promoter of consumer-directed care and has initiated many innovative projects. In 2007, the heads of 19 government departments and key agencies agreed to provide all adult social care services in a more integrated manner (Department of Health, 2007b). Key entities involved include the Chief Secretary to the Treasury, the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions and the Chair of the Local Government Association. Local government, primary care, community-based health provision, public health, social care, housing, employment, benefits advice and education/training are involved. The policy makers are working towards combining all public funds allocated to an individual into one budget and having a single administration structure that will oversee spending controlled by the consumer according to an agreed plan. The aim is to provide personalised supports and opportunities for all adults to live independently. A 'first stop shop' is proposed for each local authority area to provide information and support that will be in convenient community locations and accessed by phone, letter, e-mail, internet. No single model is prescribed, but Direct Payments and Individual Budgets are noted as important examples of the new approach. These are the two main models of consumer-directed care in the UK and they are described below.

Direct Payments

The local authority assesses need and approves an allocation provided as a Direct Payment. In most areas, funding can only be used to employ support workers. A few areas allow funds to be used for social participation activities such as joining a club, or to purchase goods and equipment (Riddell et al., 2006). The consumer carries all employer responsibilities, recruiting support workers, paying insurances and taxes and keeping records. Some local authorities finance support centres to assist

with these responsibilities, and these are often peer or user led. Funding for these support services comes from central revenue and from levying charges on the consumer.

The take-up rate of direct payments in England is more than double that of other countries in Britain (Priestley et al., 2007). In 2007, 54,000 people in England were using direct payments (Commission for Social Care Inspection, 2008). The uptake is increasing but it has been lower than expected. Factors thought to contribute to the low uptake rate are:

- politicians and senior managers not 'championing' direct payments
- resistance to direct payments among staff groups
- complexity of local purchasing mechanisms
- administrative work and responsibilities for the consumer
- availability of support workers (Knapp, 2007; Riddell et al., 2006; Stainton & Boyce, 2004).

Some consumers commented on the workload being a disincentive:

Inland Revenue class me as an employer. I do a tax return, holiday pay etc. My council doesn't do this for me. Lifestyles charity set it up for me ... it's depressing when you have to do all the paperwork. (Commission for Social Care Inspection (England), 2006b:19)

Individual Budgets

Individual Budgets were introduced following the low uptake of Direct Payments, and are attracting more consumers because they allow more flexibility. Four government departments (Health, Work and Pensions, Disability Communities and Local Government) are working together to provide an integrated model of care. In 2007, 13 local authorities piloted Individual Budgets (Department of Health, 2007a). A self-assessment of need and a plan approved by the local authority determine an individual's allocation. Funds can be used for social activities such as joining clubs, outings and purchasing equipment. In most areas, guidelines allow support workers to be recruited from family, friends and neighbours. Advice and accounting assistance are available, but these are paid for out of the allocated funds. In England, the long-term intention is for Individual Budgets to bring together funding from various social care funds into one allocation as discussed above (Knapp, 2007; Nicholls, 2007).

Individual Budgets are being piloted with older people, people with an intellectual, physical or sensory disability, and mental health service users (Individual Budgets Evaluation Network, 2007). In 2007, 1000 people in England were using Individual Budgets and numbers are expanding rapidly (Commission for Social Care Inspection, 2008). An extensive independent evaluation was underway in 2008 (Individual Budgets Evaluation Network, 2007).

Some of the Individual Budgets pilot projects in England, Scotland and Wales are sponsored by the not-for-profit organisation, in Control (in Control, 2008a). A distinguishing feature of in Control is that it allows funds to be spent on 'anything' as long as it is not illegal or gambling. A first phase evaluation involving 198 participants reported positive outcomes in health and wellbeing, quality of life and social inclusion (in Control, 2008b). In Control is developing impressive web-based resources for Individual Budget users. Budgets and plans can be amended and personalised on line; and templates are provided for writing support plans, support worker employment contracts, and electronic timesheets. A Good Employer Starter Kit and consumer guides to services and projects are also available. These electronic resources could be of use if the Australian Government decides to trial consumer-directed care in aged services.

Sweden

All Nordic countries have legislation that allows consumer-directed care. In Sweden, it is widely available in disability services, but opportunities for older people are only just beginning (Edebalk & Svensson, 2005). Disability service consumers have had a legal entitlement to manage their care since 1994. The disability legislation (*Certain Functional Impairments*, known as LSS, 1994), gives those under 65 years with disabilities the right to manage their funding and live independently (Swedish Institute, 2000). An assessment of personal support needs results in the person being allocated funds, with few restrictions on their use.

Experience in Sweden offers valuable insights into the take-up of this approach. Sixty per cent of people with a disability chose to receive traditional case-managed services from their municipality and most assistance was provided by rostered support workers; 25 per cent engaged staff from agencies (for-profit and not-for-profit); 12 per cent joined a cooperative; and three per cent self-managed (JAG Sweden, 2006).

Cooperatives are widely used in Sweden in areas such as housing and child care, and numerous cooperatives exist in the disability sector to support people using consumer-directed care to live independently in the community. These cooperatives are directed by people with disabilities, or others legally responsible who support them. Cooperatives employ administrative staff and generally charge fees of around five to seven per cent to provide all necessary information and support for consumers to recruit and manage support workers. The cooperatives manage the payroll and accounts and provide basic training for support workers. A team of support workers is often recruited to support one person with high needs to live independently. A team leader can be paid to coordinate the roster and is responsible if a worker is not available. A family member, usually the mother, can be the paid team leader who oversees the support team, and can live elsewhere and have their own full-time career (Laragy, 2006).

Sweden partially privatised aged care services and some 50 per cent of the 290 municipalities now purchase residential and community care for older people through a tendering process (Edebalk, 2008). Most tenders were won by large for-profit agencies and there was a tendency for monopolies to develop. To counter this trend, around 30 municipalities developed 'consumer choice' alternatives and two models have emerged (Edebalk, 2008). In one model, the municipality specifies service requirements, calls for tenders and selects a number of providers, most of which are large companies. In the second model, the municipality develops standards and authorises all providers who meet these standards to offer services. This model encouraged many small providers to enter the market. Small providers were allowed to offer restricted services to specific consumer groups, whereas their large competitors were not allowed to impose any restrictions. These small enterprises were popular with consumers and staff because they delivered individually tailored support services, and they were financially successful. This initiative resulted in many municipal support workers leaving to establish their own small enterprises (Edebalk, 2008).

Services in the disability field can charge different rates, but services for older people compete solely on quality. National legislation determines pay rates (Edebalk, 2008; Edebalk & Svensson, 2005).

Austria

Austria introduced major policy reforms in both the aged and disability sectors in 1993, and consumer-directed care became available to everyone needing ongoing support (Österle & Hammer, 2007). In 2004, self-directed care was used by 300,400 people: this constituted 4 per cent of the population. Approximately 90 per cent of those who self-directed their care lived in the community, while the remainder were in residential care. Consumer-directed care was available to all adults regardless of their type of incapacity, and 45 per cent were aged over 80 years. The number of people using consumer-directed care has increased sharply in recent years.

The aim of consumer-directed care in Austria is to offer an incentive for informal care to come from within the family and other primary networks and to enable consumers to remain living at home (Österle & Hammer, 2007). Allowances are not means-tested and they are paid directly to the consumer 12 times a year. Allowances are not, however, sufficient to support independent living. They are a supplement to families who are legally responsible for the welfare of their member needing assistance. Family legal obligations are enforced through the taxation system, with taxes imposed on close family members who are working, if residential care is required. Funds provided can be used flexibly for items such as house adaptations, specific dietary requirements and employing support workers. In practice, the consumer-directed care supplements are often used to employ support workers. Daughters, daughters-in-law and migrant workers from Eastern Europe are often employed. Support workers can be employed directly or recruited from agencies, most of which are not-for-profit.

United States of America

Consumer-directed care projects for older people have increased in the US in response to the growing needs of an ageing population. They commenced in the disability field in the 1970s (Hutchison et al., 2006) and were introduced into the aged sector in the 1980s (Kunkel & Nelson, 2006). After a slow start, self-directed aged care is now widely available across the US and is increasing. Many aged care services offer both consumer-directed care and traditional case management services (Kunkel & Nelson, 2006).

In the US, government financial assistance for people with few assets is provided through Medicare for hospital services and through Medicaid for community care and residential services. Private insurance schemes are widely used by those who qualify and can afford them. If people do not have private insurance, they use their savings to pay for care and apply to Medicaid when their assets are reduced. Medicaid and private health insurers generally have flexible guidelines and allow consumers to purchase services and supports of their choosing to assist them to live at home. Until recently, there was a complicated waiver system, requiring state-based consumer-directed care projects to apply to the federal government for permission to use funds flexibly. The federal government has simplified procedures in an attempt to expand consumer-directed care projects. There is considerable variation in such projects across the US: some states allow funds to be used flexibly to purchase a wide range of supports and services, while others are more restrictive and prescribe where services can be purchased (Feinberg, Wolkwitz & Goldstein, 2006).

Consumer-directed care was introduced into the US through a series of trials and evaluations. Positive findings from these demonstration projects encouraged their expansion. Four demonstration projects are reviewed below.

Choices for Independence

A large national demonstration project called 'Choices for Independence', funded by the federal government is currently underway (Administration on Ageing 2006). This US\$28 million project aims to keep older people living independently in their own home for as long as possible. Currently over 8 million older people are assisted under the *Older Americans Act 2006* and efforts are being made to modernise and improved the ways supports are provided. The project's objectives are to empower individuals to make informed decisions, provide more choices for those at high risk of nursing home placement and encourage behavioural changes to reduce their risk of disease, disability and injury. A public education campaign is being conducted and individual support is provided through 'one stop' resource centres. Consumers are advised on the best ways to use their private and public money to enable them to remain living independently. This initiative builds on the positive findings from other projects, including the Cash and Counseling Demonstration Program which is described below.

Cash and Counseling Demonstration Program

In the 1990s, the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation funded the 'Cash and Counseling Demonstration Program' and its evaluation. Consumer-directed care was made available to people in the aged and disability sectors in three states: Arkansas, Florida, and New Jersey. Seven thousand people were randomly allocated to intervention or control groups. Few restrictions were placed on how funding could be spent. It was used to employ support workers, purchase assistive devices or make home modifications. Most support workers were family members and spouses could be employed in some states, but not all. Almost everyone used the information and support services available (referred to as 'counselling'). At some sites all support was provided free of charge, while others had minimal charges. Support was provided to develop plans, recruit and manage support workers and manage the accounts and the payroll. Evaluation reports showed high consumer satisfaction, especially when people were allowed to employ family members. Individuals using consumer-directed care received more services than those in control groups, and had improved health outcomes, with fewer respiratory infections, bed sores or pressure sores. Although some support workers recruited from within the family felt unappreciated for their work. overall the satisfaction of family and non-family workers was equally high (Dale, Brown & Shapiro, 2005; Foster et al., 2004; Otiniano, Herrera & Teasdale, 1996; Simon-Rusinowitz et al., 2005).

Michigan's 'Self-determination Initiative'

In 1997, Michigan was one of 19 states included in the 'Self-determination Initiative', a demonstration project for people with an intellectual disability, funded by the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (Head & Conroy, 2005). A feature of this project was educating staff about the principles of self-determination and consumer choice. Consumers were supported to develop and implement plans using 'person-centred planning'. Plans were then costed to produce an individual allocation. This differed from other places where an initial assessment determined the funding allocation. Participants could directly employ support workers or recruit from agencies. When workers were directly employed, funds were held and managed by a fiscal intermediary. Quality of life assessments were conducted before and after the introduction of consumer-directed care, and positive changes were reported. The study concluded that consumer-directed care enabled people to continue to live in the community, gave greater control over everyday activities like bedtimes, enhanced self-esteem, enabled more social activities with friends, and reduced costs by eight per cent. However, there were methodological difficulties that bring into question the cost reductions (Head & Conroy, 2005). These are discussed below in the section 'Cost effectiveness'.

Wisconsin's 'Long-term Care'

The state of Wisconsin has trialled and promoted consumer-directed care in long-term aged care for some years. In 2006, it commenced a five-year project to integrate long-term care and health care services, aiming to maximise choice and to support older people to live at home for as long as possible (Wisconsin Department of Health and Human Services, 2008a, 2008b). All government funding allocations are combined with the person's private funds, and all voluntary, informal and formal supports will be utilised. A 'one-stop shop' provides information and an individual plan specifies how funds can be spent. There are agreed limits to the use of funds, but regulations and accountability are kept to a minimum and funds can be used for 'everything from sidewalk snow shoveling to nursing home care, and everything in between' (Wisconsin Department of Health and Human Services, 2008b).

Advantages of consumer-directed care

The advantages of consumer-directed care reported in the literature are summarised below.

Improved responsiveness to individual requirements

The UK's Social Care Institute for Excellence conducted a meta-analysis of consumer-directed care evaluations. It concluded that consumers were generally more satisfied with this approach than with traditional support services because their individual needs and preferences were better met (2007). Having control of the allocated funds gave consumers more bargaining power with service providers, case managers and other professionals who became more responsive to their needs (Nicholls, 2007). Consumers liked this increased control because professionals 'become more like advisers, counsellors and brokers, guiding people to make better choices for themselves' (Leadbeater, Bartlett, & Gallagher, 2008:11). Consumers said, 'We want to remain in control over our own life and money ... even in a residential home' (Commission for Social Care Inspection (England), 2006a).

Simple changes, such as a support worker being available to assist consumers into bed at a preferred time or to undertake tasks as agreed, greatly enhanced consumers' quality of life (Gauthier, 2006; Laragy, 2005; Nicholls, 2007; Österle & Hammer, 2007). Examples given included:

- One person commented: 'I am now able to take a shower every day, something that was impossible before' (Gauthier, 2006:7).
- One man employed someone to fetch a meal from his local pub after rejecting 'meals on wheels' (Nicholls, 2007).
- A support worker cooked meals of the consumer's choosing: 'I am spoilt rotten again on the food front' (Carmichael & Brown, 2002:801).
- Funding was used to buy assistive technology, such as sensors that automatically switched on a light when the person got out of bed and a lifeline alarm to summon help if there was a fall (Nicholls, 2007).
- One group of consumers of mixed ages lived independently in their own flats and pooled their funding to buy services they needed. As the researcher noted: 'The resources involved made up a sizeable contract (of a scale which the local authority would normally have put out to tender), so there was real purchasing power involved' (Nicholls, 2007:10).

Consumer-directed care provided opportunities to people of all ages, including those who were older. This was captured in the quote: 'Age, in itself, is not a disability but it brings disabilities and we have to adjust ... We still want to be masters of our own destiny.' (Commission for Social Care Inspection (England), 2006a:1)

There were numerous accounts of consumer-directed care creating opportunities for increased social inclusion and social participation. Examples included:

- attending social activities, sporting functions and church services with a support worker, often at times when agency support workers were not available
- participation at a gym
- saving funds and going on a holiday
- shopping for clothes with the assistance of a support worker
- going to the pub with the assistance of a support worker

• visiting family with the assistance of a support worker (Carmichael & Brown, 2002; Laragy, 2005, 2006; Leadbeater et al., 2008; O'Donovan & Doyle, 2006; Poll et al., 2006).

Consumer-directed care was often used to complement other available resources, as shown in the comment: 'Direct Payments have been very flexible for me. I joined a gym, which is great. I pay for it but Direct Payments pay for my transport there and back'. (Commission for Social Care Inspection (England), 2006b:7).

A major advantage of consumer-directed care was that consumers could select their support workers (Carmichael & Brown, 2002; Gauthier, 2006; Revill, 2007). This was much preferred to being assisted by agency staff who changed frequently.

Direct Payments give me control. I now have a say in what I eat and drink, what I do and when I do it. I can choose carers that can help me to live my life. I can have continuity instead of a different carer every day. (Commission for Social Care Inspection (England), 2006b:4)

Cost efficiencies

A strong argument in favour of consumer-directed care is that it results in lower costs than do traditional agency-based services. Published research material is limited, but what is available suggests that governments are expanding projects because of cost savings (Leadbeater et al., 2008; Office for Disability Issues, 2007; Wisconsin Department of Health and Human Services, 2008b.) Without waiting for independent data, governments are expanding consumer-directed care projects in disability services based on their own analysis of costs and efficiencies.

A large US study randomly allocated service users to either consumer-directed care or a control group receiving services from a traditional agency (Head & Conroy, 2005). Accurate comparisons were difficult because many people assigned to the agency were left on waiting lists or received few services, and individual allocations could be increased or decreased when people moved to consumer-directed care. After allowing for these contingencies, savings of eight per cent were estimated, although the authors acknowledged that the accuracy of their findings could not be assured. Savings were also reported in the UK where in Control noted savings of 10 per cent (Leadbeater et al., 2008). The English Social Care Institute for Excellence (2007) conducted a meta-analysis of research findings and concluded that current evidence on efficiencies and costs of consumer-directed care is inconclusive and more work needs to be undertaken.

From a government perspective, consumer-directed care may provide a means of supporting more people at lower per capita cost while maintaining quality. In the US, consumer-directed care resulted in people being able to live at home longer and they usually chose less formal and less expensive supports to meet their needs (Wisconsin Department of Health and Human Services, 2008b). One US government program invested \$1.4 billion annually to support people to live at home and this leveraged an additional \$4 billion from other public, community and private sources for over eight million elderly individuals (Administration on Ageing, 2006). A senior County Council administrator in England said a key reason for expanding consumer-directed care was that it enabled people to remain living at home and it provided an alternative to more expensive residential care (Laragy, 2005).

Currently in Australia, a significant proportion of the funds allocated for support are used by service agencies for case management and administrative overheads. One Australian study found that these costs account for 45 to 50 per cent of the allocated funding (Summers, 2007): these are areas where potential savings could be investigated. There are other services in Australia and services overseas charging fees of less than 10 per cent of the allocated funds to provide information, brokerage and account keeping services for those who self-manage (Laragy, 2005 &

2008). After paying these fees, consumers have more funds to purchase personal care and other items compared with receiving support through traditional service agencies.

From a user perspective, consumer-directed care offers access to more funds and greater bargaining power. Consumers can seek opportunities to meet their needs in flexible and creative ways, with potential cost savings, because they are not restricted to purchasing services from the formal aged care sector. Effective use of consumer purchasing power is an important element of improved financial outcomes in this approach.

Demonstration and quantification of such potential savings should be an important element of any trial of this approach in Australia. Systematic research will be required to determine whether savings result, and if so, what factors contribute to this outcome.

However, support services for self-management only exist in limited locations. If self-managed care is to be made widely available, one option to be debated is that of government providing basic information, support and advisory services free of charge. This could be funded by a slight reduction in the value of individual care packages.

Transparency

An advantage of consumer-directed care is that it offers more transparency to consumers regarding the use of allocated funding. Increasingly, informed consumers are questioning the use of government funds that are allocated to them through service providers. For example, some consumers are questioning why they get so much less than the value of their total package in the cost of the services provided. Service providers have historically pooled available funds and shared them across all clients based on the provider's perception of need. In contrast to this, consumer-directed care will stipulate each person's individual budget and agencies will be directly accountable for this amount. The amount will be portable and consumers will be able to compare value for money across agencies. This approach will require more transparency from service providers and is likely to strengthen consumers' purchasing power.

Implementation issues

The literature review identified a range of issues facing governments and agencies when implementing consumer-directed care. This section considers these issues.

Promotion, information, planning and support

Information, advisory and planning services to assist and support consumers are common features of international projects. Information is generally provided regarding the:

- project guidelines and responsibilities
- amount of funds allocated
- location and availability of services for planning, case management, accounting, administration and recruiting support workers
- cost of services including hourly rates for support workers
- resources to assist recruitment and management of support workers
- resources to assist self-managing
- specialist community resources, equipment and supports
- responsible authority that can be contacted if problems arise.

Promotion and marketing are important to inform potential consumers and professionals about opportunities available. Information and support are most needed in the initial stages, but they

remain an ongoing requirement critical to achieving successful outcomes. Assistance needs to be appropriate, meaningful, accessible and timely; but this is not always achieved: 'There is a strong demand for information to be conveyed or explained by another person; a frequent criticism was "I was just given a list" ' (Commission for Social Care Inspection (England), 2006b:8). Furthermore, guidelines need to be clear so that consumers know their rights and responsibilities (Dixon, 2007; Edebalk, 2007; Gauthier, 2006; Henwood & Hudson, 2007; Laragy, 2008; Nicholls, 2007; Reynolds, 2007; Riddell et al., 2006; Stainton & Boyce, 2004).

Planning support is provided free of charge (with limits) to consumers in some projects, while others charge fees for all services. There are concerns that charging for all information and support will result in a two-tier system: the most capable consumers will have access to information and will utilise a wide range of opportunities, while those less capable will be forced to use their funds to access help and consequently will have fewer resources to meet their needs (Individual Budgets Evaluation Network, 2007; Knapp, 2007).

Assessment and resource allocation

There are three approaches identified in the literature to the assessment of need and resource allocation in consumer-directed care projects. One approach is to assess needs first and later allocate funds according to the level of need. In most countries, an initial assessment by a professional determines the amount of funds allocated. A second approach is to develop with the consumer a plan which is later costed. Self-assessment is a third approach currently being trialled in the UK (in Control, 2008b). A detailed evaluation report on self-assessments is expected during 2008 and some initial user feedback has been released (Browning, 2007). Some consumers found that self-assessment was empowering and simple to use, while others wanted more information before they could make informed decisions. The application of self-assessment for older consumers with changing and increasingly complex care requirements is a natter that needs further investigation (Nicholls, 2007).

Developing valid and equitable assessment tools has been a widespread challenge. The difficulties of achieving these goals were highlighted in England where a standardised disability assessment tool was available that assigned each person to a level of need, but the funds allocated to each level varied. Local authorities committed resources according to the funds they had available and people with the same level of assessed need received different amounts in different areas (Laragy, 2005). Increasingly assessments are focusing on social goals in addition to personal care and basic medical needs (Gauthier, 2006), and these changes reflect the importance given by governments to promoting social inclusion and independent living.

Planning processes vary: some are simple and straightforward while others require a formal process that includes family, friends and professionals. Some projects require a written plan that specifies where funds can be spent and others allow funds to be spent at the consumer's discretion. In the UK, there has been considerable debate about the appropriate use of funds allocated. One instance received considerable media attention when Gavin Croft, a sufferer of multiple sclerosis with impaired vision, used part of his funding allocation to purchase a season ticket for a companion to accompany him to football matches and to comment on the game (Keegan & Ottewell, 2007; Benjamin, 2008). This arrangement was highly satisfactory for Croft and his wife. Croft enjoyed the football match and going to the pub afterwards with his Saturday afternoon companion; and his wife said, 'It gives me the only time I get off all week and I don't have to watch football in the wet and the cold'. The responsible Social Care Minister supported Croft's use of public funds. This example has strengthened the flexibility allowed to consumers in the UK and their right to decide how their allocated funds should be spent.

Financial and account management

The need for account-keeping support is largely determined by the accountability required by government. There has been a trend for governments to require detailed account keeping in the

beginning and to reduce their requirements over time. In the relatively new UK project 'in Control', consumers can spend allocated funds on anything as long as it is not illegal or gambling and accountability requirements are minimal. In most projects consumers are responsible for keeping accounts and providing reports. A minority of individuals have the expertise and interest to pay the accounts and report on expenditure, but most require services from an external person or organisation and do not want the responsibilities involved: 'Independent Living Services deal with payroll so I don't need to report back every week on how I spent the money. They also have all the knowledge about laws, sick pay and so on' (Commission for Social Care Inspection (England), 2006:7). Third parties such as cooperatives or financial intermediaries can manage all financial requirements as required.

A new profession of brokers has emerged in some parts of Europe and the US: they charge the consumer a fee-for-service to assist with planning and to purchase services on the consumer's behalf. There are some concerns that they are unregulated and their role and responsibilities are unclear (Henwood & Hudson, 2007; Knapp, 2007; Leadbeater et al., 2008). Independent planners and facilitators already exist in Australia for some individualised funding disability programs (LDC Group, 2007), and minimum qualifications and standards have been developed in some parts of Victoria. If such professionals become more influential in Australia, it would be important to consider what professional standards need to exist in the aged care sector.

Support workers

The literature review found advantages and disadvantages for support workers employed in consumer-directed care projects, and both are listed below. Some items are listed in both categories because circumstances varied between locations and between workers. For example, paid work to support a family member was warmly welcomed by some, but it presented difficulties for others. Many of the disadvantages existed in countries where labour laws do not protect minimum wages and working conditions to the extent that occurs in Australia.

Advantages of consumer-directed care for support workers included:

- Workers were recruited from informal networks and had opportunities not available to them in the wider labour market.
- Migrant workers gained employment that was unavailable elsewhere.
- Workers had higher levels of satisfaction when engaged to work for one person where they could negotiate duties and mutually agreeable times, compared with working for many clients through an agency.
- Workers stayed longer in their job working for one consumer compared with working for many people through an agency.
- Workers appreciated payment when caring for a family member as an alternative to having to seek paid employment elsewhere (e.g. mother cared for dying child).
- Workers could negotiate higher rates of pay for unsociable hours.
- Ethnic workers could arrange to work for consumers from their own community. (Carmichael & Brown, 2002; Dale, Brown & Phillips, 2004; Gauthier, 2006; Knapp, 2007; Laragy, 2006; Nicholls, 2007; Otiniano et al., 1996; Riddell et al., 2006; Simon-Rusinowitz et al., 2005; Stainton & Boyce, 2004; Ungerson, 2006).

Workforce concerns in some consumer-directed care projects included:

- Pay and conditions were below labour market standards.
- Cheap labour undermined working conditions of other support workers.
- Female migrant workers had difficulties negotiating working conditions and hours.
- Workers felt unappreciated working for a family member.

- Working for a family member reduced opportunities for employment in the full-time external workforce that would pay higher wages.
- Training and support were not always provided.
 (Dale et al., 2004; Laragy, 2008; Österle & Hammer, 2007; Otiniano et al., 1996; Ungerson, 2006; Ungerson & Yeandle, 2007; Williams, 2001).

It is clear that consumers can gain advantages from employing staff through consumer-directed care. Studies show that support workers also gained advantages, as long as they were protected from exploitation. The best working conditions occurred when support workers received award wages, were protected through workers' compensation and had health and safety training (Ungerson, 2006). The worst conditions were reported in Southern Europe where undocumented migrant workers had no alternative employment opportunities (Ungerson & Yeandle, 2007). This experience suggests the need to ensure that advantages to consumers are not at the expense of workers' industrial conditions.

Engagement of case managers

The introduction of consumer-directed care is a significant cultural and operational change requiring new understandings and work practices from all staff. Case managers lose a degree of control when they become planners and facilitators because they are hired, and can be fired, by the consumer. The consumer has full control if they are the legal employer, and still retains considerable control if using a third-party organisation as the legal employer.

In additional to concerns for vulnerable clients, case managers sometimes have concerns for themselves. They are concerned that their jobs might be threatened if consumer-directed care expands and consumers self-manage and directly employ their own workers (Henwood & Hudson, 2007). This is a realistic concern for individual workers, even though it is expected that service providers in general will continue to be needed. Secondly, case managers are sometimes concerned that they will be held responsible should anything go wrong for the client (Kunkel & Nelson, 2006).

Risk management strategies in services often hold workers responsible for client safety. In England, lines of accountability and responsibility were not always clear and local authority case managers sometimes carried responsibilities for Direct Payments consumers even though they had no 'hands-on' involvement or decision-making authority (Laragy, 2005). This was stressful for the case managers and a disincentive for them to authorise Direct Payments. Consumers sometimes find risk-averse attitudes of professionals and their employing organisations overly restrictive, as shown when one person was told by staff in a residential home, 'We can't let you go out as we can't take the risk that you might get run over' (Commission for Social Care Inspection (England), 2006a:1).

Clear guidelines and support for case managers are important to protect staff whose attitudes determine to a large extent whether their clients will take up consumer-directed care. The slow uptake of Direct Payments in the UK was partly attributed to the negative attitudes of case managers (Individual Budgets Evaluation Network, 2007). Case managers were often initially fearful and sceptical that consumer-directed care would be appropriate for their vulnerable clients (Carmichael & Brown, 2002). Generally, increased experience with consumer-directed care resulted in their fears abating (Kunkel & Nelson, 2006).

Suitability for specific populations

CALD populations

Consumer-directed care offers the opportunity for culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) populations to organise culturally appropriate support (Glynn & Beresford, 2008; Kendrick, 2001; Nicholls, 2007). Reports from Britain and the US indicate that consumer-directed care is more

responsive to cultural differences than the 'one size fits all' approach of many traditional service agencies. According to one consumer:

I asked for a black carer but was only offered a white carer. I want someone who will understand my cultural needs. I can't lift my arms up. I wanted someone who could do my hair properly for me, a white carer can't do that. (Commission for Social Care Inspection (England), 2006b:5)

A Victorian disability study found that CALD disability groups were interested in consumerdirected care (LIME Management Group, 2005). The Western Australian Local Area Coordination project made consumer-directed care available to Indigenous and CALD participants. Reports were generally positive and there were high levels of satisfaction, but it was found that these groups needed more culturally specific information and support (Disability Services Commission, 2003).

Indigenous populations

Flexible funding program guidelines currently used for services to Aboriginal communities by the Department of Health and Ageing have some features of consumer-directed care. Consumer-directed care may be particularly applicable to Indigenous populations in providing a further vehicle for program flexibility.

The Department of Health and Ageing (2008) already provides flexible care through its Transition Care Program for Indigenous Australians leaving hospital. Flexible packages of service are provided for low intensity therapy, nursing and personal care. These principles could provide the foundation for the broader application of flexible care.

Carers

The critical role of family and other informal carers in providing aged care is widely recognised. In England, it is estimated that unpaid care would cost £67 billion if purchased from formal services (Moullin, 2007). Carers often face financial and other hardships because their caring reduces their opportunity to participate in the paid labour market (Moullin, 2007; Simon-Rusinowitz et al., 2005; Williams, 2001).

Some carers like consumer-directed care when it allows them to be formally employed and be for work previously done without payment (Individual Budgets Evaluation Network, 2007). They also like being able to select support workers and directly negotiate duties and schedules, having access to more funds previously paid to agencies, and having flexibility to take up opportunities for social inclusion as they arise. In some instances, consumer-directed care added to their burden because of the increased demands and responsibilities for planning and financial record-keeping previously done by case managers (Dale et al., 2004). Also, carers who received below-award wages and conditions sometimes felt unappreciated and more stressed than non-family workers (Ungerson & Yeandle, 2007). The needs of carers should be considered when developing an Australian model of consumer-directed care.

Consumer-directed care in Australia

Consumer-directed care is already available in a number of disability projects across Australia and this experience can inform the debate about its introduction into aged care. The Western Australian Local Area Coordination program, commenced in 1988, is Australia's largest program. The last review was undertaken in 2003, when a comprehensive meta-analysis of 17 separate studies concluded that consumer-directed care resulted in a wide range of positive outcomes (Disability Services Commission, 2003).

Victorian Disability Services trialled and evaluated a small consumer-directed care project in 2006 (LDC Group, 2007). Allocated funds were paid into the consumer's bank account and could be

used flexibly for a diverse range of activities as long as high levels of financial accountability were met. All participants successfully managed their own funds and reported high levels of satisfaction. Factors that contributed to the project's success were the consumers' involvement in developing the project's design and policies, having a detailed plan for each participant that was subsequently costed, and having access to a project worker for information as required. The evaluation concluded that the project was successful and recommended that it be expanded. The report details policies and procedures that could be useful when considering the introduction of consumerdirected care into aged care.

The New South Wales Department of Ageing, Disability and Home Care is currently trialling consumer-directed care for people with physical disabilities to employ support workers (Fisher & Campbell McLean, 2007). Three models are being used: 'direct funding' to the consumer who carries all responsibilities; a 'cooperative model' where funds are managed by a service provider while the consumer recruits and becomes the legal employer of support workers; and the 'employer model' where funds are paid to a service provider that employs support workers and consults with the consumer as appropriate. An interim report indicates positive outcomes on a diverse range of measures including satisfaction, wellbeing and social and economic participation. The final evaluation report is expected later in 2008.

In the aged care sector, UnitingCare Community Options in Victoria is designing a consumerdirected care project to commence in 2009. Consumers will be able to choose from options ranging from traditional case management to having control of their funds and be able to plan and purchase their own services. Information and support services will be available. Existing state and Commonwealth aged care funding packages will be pooled for each consumer and available to be used flexibly. The evaluation will examine the efficacy and sustainability of this service model and its ability to improve consumer satisfaction, health outcomes, and quality of care across the continuum of health and social care settings.

An Australian approach

This review of consumer-directed projects has highlighted a range of positive outcomes, but it has also raised a number of implementation issues to be addressed if such an initiative is to be introduced in Australia. Our analysis points to six key issues which need to be considered in the design of an Australian approach. These are:

- projected uptake rate
- informing, supporting and empowering consumers
- engagement of case managers
- accountability and reporting mechanisms
- managing risks and vulnerabilities
- workforce issues.

Projected uptake rate

Australian aged care providers already offer a wide range of innovative and creative projects, and international experience indicates that the traditional services will play an important ongoing role. For example, 60 per cent of Swedish disability consumers chose to purchase traditional services from their municipality when they had many choices (JAG Sweden, 2006).

While consumer-directed care will not be suitable for everyone and many will prefer traditional agency provision of services, there are growing numbers of consumers who want the flexibility and opportunities it provides. Many also want access to funds that are currently spent on case management and agency overheads.

International experience suggests that some service providers will see consumer-directed care as an opportunity, while others will feel threatened by it. The attitudes of professionals towards consumer-directed care will impact on its uptake rate (Commission for Social Care Inspection (England), 2006a). Consumer-directed care requires a significant cultural shift in professional practice and it requires new roles and operational systems. To meet these challenges, training and support are essential to assist service providers and support workers to adapt (LDC Group, 2007; Social Care Institute for Excellence, 2007). A case can be made for some transitional funding to provide incentives for service providers to meet extra costs for training, marketing and operational changes related to individual accounts:

Providers – need to be encouraged to embrace the new agenda, develop their vision for developing person-centred services that support choice and build partnerships and alliances to facilitate change ... Though well placed to develop new models of care, there are particular challenges for providers who are competing in a market where there is a shortage of people with the right skills and a need for better information about what works. (Commission for Social Care Inspection (England), 2006a:13)

Consumer-directed care will be attractive to aged consumers who are seeking greater choice and control of available funds to support their care requirements. There is little evidence to indicate what factors will predict which consumers will take up this opportunity with respect to socioeconomic status, age and cognitive capacity. There is an untested assumption that higher uptake will occur among consumers aged 65 to 80 who have the capacity to manage their own affairs, or have families willing and able to negotiate service systems on their behalf. This assumes that older consumers will have less family support and they will be unable or disinterested in negotiating services and being accountable for their funding package. Further evidence is needed to test these assumptions.

Based on international experience detailed above, consumer-directed care is an option that is likely to be taken up by no more than 25 per cent of the eligible ageing population when there is effective implementation. However, this is a significant proportion of a growing service-user population. Effective marketing campaigns will need to be considered to encourage uptake.

Some service providers are already adopting choice and independence creation principles in their practice; and they will respond eagerly to the opportunities that consumer-directed care offers for their clients. For others, the competitive discipline offered by consumer-directed care will provide an incentive to adapt their services to enhance consumer choice and control.

Informing, supporting and empowering consumers

Providing support to develop individual plans based on each person's needs and wishes needs to be considered in any Australian project. Planning support is provided free of charge to consumers in some projects (with limits), while others charge fees for all services. There are concerns that charging for all information and support will result in a two-tier system (Individual Budgets Evaluation Network, 2007; Knapp, 2007): the more capable consumers will have access to information and will utilise a wide range of opportunities, while those less capable will be forced to use their funds to access help and consequently will have fewer resources to meet their needs. Providing information and support services free of charge overcomes this difficulty and this could possibly be done through new 'one-stop shops' similar to those proposed by *The Way Forward* report (Department of Health and Ageing, 2004a).

Locally based, peer support projects sponsored by governments were found to be effective in providing this assistance internationally (Social Care Institute of Excellence, 2007), and should be considered in Australia. Existing aged care service providers may be able to offer some or all these services. However, international experience shows that extensive staff training is required for existing services to make the cultural shift to consumer-directed care to ensure it is not just 'business as usual'. Where consumer-directed care has been introduced overseas and in Australian

disability services, new positions such as planners, facilitators, financial intermediaries and commercial trust companies have emerged. If consumer-directed care is introduced into aged care, it will be important to ensure high standards and to avoid monopolies, which could increase costs.

Engagement of case managers

Case managers will continue to play an important role if consumer-directed care is introduced. However, changes in roles and responsibilities will be required. It will be important to engage case managers with the positive aspects of consumer-directed care. Case managers will need information, education and support to learn about consumer-directed care and be responsive to the opportunities and challenges it presents (Henwood & Hudson, 2007; LDC Group, 2007).

Accountability and reporting mechanisms

A person-centred plan that is regularly reviewed is used in many projects as the basis for safeguarding vulnerable people and to account for public funds. Although evaluations of consumer-directed care show that instances of fraud or defaulting consumers have been comparatively few (Caldwell, 2007; Simon-Rusinowitz et al., 2005; Social Care Institute for Excellence, 2007), mechanisms are needed to ensure the welfare of vulnerable older people and to provide accountability for government funding. Reliable data reporting has been a strong feature of the aged care program and should be retained in any new initiative. One of the implementation issues in Australia is to identify simple, inexpensive mechanisms that enable consumers to meet legislative and regulatory requirements. Compliance rates and financial accountability should be among the issues considered in pilot evaluations.

A minimalist approach to financial accountability requirements is increasingly being adopted by governments after they become comfortable with the concept of consumer-directed care (Henwood & Hudson, 2007). Projects often commence by requiring extensive documentation and financial accountability and these requirements are reduced over time (Carmichael & Brown, 2002; Nicholls, 2007; Stainton & Boyce, 2004). This may be for practical as well as philosophical reasons. Maintaining detailed accounts is onerous for consumers and overseeing compliance is costly for governments. The Swedish disability sector does not require detailed accounts, nor does the British *in Control* project that allows funds to be spent on anything that is legal except for gambling (in Control, 2008a). The expansion of the large US Wisconsin project was guided by the motto 'Keep it simple' (2008b).

Computer software that enables people to record the necessary data for consumer-directed care is available elsewhere and could be adapted for Australian use or new material could be developed. Web-based technology offers opportunities for care plans, financial records, transfer of funds, and financial reports to be managed efficiently. If government requires an audited statement of accounts, they could direct consumers to freely available software to facilitate the process.

Managing risks and vulnerabilities

The possibility has been raised that vulnerable older people may be at increased risk of neglect, isolation or abuse and exploitation from family, unscrupulous service providers or support workers if they do not have oversight and the protection of a case manager (Dixon, 2007; Reynolds, 2007). Consumer-directed care evaluations to date have not revealed evidence to substantiate such concerns (Simon-Rusinowitz et al., 2005; Social Care Institute for Excellence, 2007). However, appropriate mechanisms will be needed to ensure these problems do not emerge.

Another consideration is the risk of increased social isolation for some consumers. Social isolation is already a problem and review mechanisms and safeguards would need to be in place to decrease and not exacerbate this problem. Generally, consumer-directed care has been found to increase social participation, but on occasions it has resulted in increased social isolation. In the disability field, one mother found that her son, using consumer-directed care in England, missed spending

time with peers: 'My son is out constantly but sometimes he would just like to be in a group activity rather than on his own with a carer. I like Direct Payments and it's working well for us but I do think it isolates him.' (Henwood & Hudson, 2007:21). Appropriate information about community activity opportunities will need to be provided.

A further concern is that allocations may not be adequate to meet personal needs. Consumers could be left isolated and vulnerable at home if there is no case manager to notice inadequate resourcing and no-one to advocate on their behalf (Brennan, 2006; Gauthier, 2006; Knapp, 2007). If funding is not adequate, basic needs may not be met and older people could be at risk: 'If people are in desperate need but social services can't come it's risky. People need to push but we don't have the confidence.' (Commission for Social Care Inspection (England), 2006a:7)

The Australian aged care sector can learn from local and overseas experiences when considering appropriate mechanisms to protect the vulnerable using consumer-directed care. In England, detailed planning and risk management tools are used to promote choice and independence while maximising safeguards (Department of Health, 2007a). All relevant stakeholders (the person, family members, friends and professionals) come together to develop a mutually agreed plan, and responsibilities and risks are shared. When people have reduced capacity to make decisions, a responsible person is nominated to have oversight and be accountable. Some projects establish 'circles of support' or legal 'trusts' (McConkey, 2005). It is acknowledged that some degree of risk can be acceptable if it is considered by all those involved to be in the best interests of the person concerned. When people are capable of managing their own lives, they do not need the same protections, and overzealous monitoring would be counter to the principles of self-determination and consumer control. Striking a reasonable balance between providing opportunities and managing risk will be an ongoing challenge, 'It's not possible for life to go on without taking reasonable risk. But there are grey areas that people should get support on how to balance the risks without sacrificing independence.' (Commission for Social Care Inspection (England), 2006a:3)

In Sweden, a 'trustee' is allocated to every person with a disability who has reduced decisionmaking capacity, and the trustee is legally responsible for the person's welfare. This system is generally considered to be effective in mitigating against isolation and neglect, but as a family member is usually the 'trustee', there is no protection against family abuse or exploitation.

In the Victorian Disability Services consumer-directed care project (LDC Group, 2007), the project coordinator provided oversight and a detailed risk management strategy was developed. This covered systemic issues such as policies, procedures and strategic planning; duty of care; and individual financial accountability that included monitoring of bank accounts and financial acquittals. The evaluation report provides details of these mechanisms and it could assist the development of consumer-directed care in the aged sector.

Workforce issues

One of the major challenges facing the aged care sector is the availability of suitably trained support workers. Consumer-directed care will face the same challenge and consumers will be competing with service providers for skilled staff. One advantage of consumer-directed care is that it can tap into informal networks, thus increasing the pool of potential workers.

Any model of consumer-directed care in Australian needs to maintain the informality and flexibility of employment arrangements without jeopardising the support workers' conditions. Australia has stronger industrial laws than exist in Europe and the US and it does not have their large pool of illegal migrants. However, some support workers in Australia, especially migrant women, found it difficult to negotiate terms and conditions (Laragy, 2008). Mechanisms to prevent exploitation need to ensure that staff are engaged according to an industrial award or employment agreement; and if a consumer does not want, or is not able, to assume the responsibilities of an employer, a 'third-party' organisation can be the legal employer.

Scope of reform in Australia

This paper has argued that consumer-directed care offers real prospects of improving the responsiveness of aged care services and increasing cost efficiencies and that there are strong grounds for trialling this approach in Australia. It proposes that a consumer-directed care initiative be developed and trialled in Australia by the federal government. There are several options for implementing consumer-directed care in Australia and the suggested elements of a framework for a consumer-directed care initiative in Australia are set out below.

A consumer-directed care initiative should involve:

- 1 consultation with key stakeholders
- 2 development of a pilot specification for the trial in four locations across Australia detailing the approaches to be implemented and its evaluation
- 3 allocation of funding for the trial
- 4 an agreed timeframe for considering the further application of this approach to the aged care system once the pilot and its evaluation have been completed.

It is proposed that two approaches to increasing consumer choice in community Australian aged care services be trialled. The first approach should be based on individual budgets and the second on portability of funds. Both approaches could be implemented within the framework of the existing funding allocation mechanisms using the Aged Care Funding Instrument (ACFI), and both could be trialled in four designated 'demonstration regions'. It is proposed that the trials incorporate a wide scope of programs including CACPs, EACH, respite care, planned activity groups and residential care services. A temporary exemption from some provisions under the *Aged Care Act 1997* with regard to program entitlements may be required. The intent, however, would be to fund all costs through agreed packages and minimise cross-program subsidisation.

In the *individual budget* approach, consumers would be allocated a budget and could purchase services from the formal aged care service sector or from alternative sources. Spending guidelines should be flexible and appropriate accountability requirements would need to be developed. Specialist information, support and advisory services funded by government (not the individual) would need to be developed as part of such a trial.

In the *portability of funds* approach, consumers could use their allocated funds with any provider eligible to receive funds under the *Aged Care Act 1997* and the *Home and Community Care Act 1985*. The consumer could choose to move their allocated funds from one service provider to another. This would be a voucher system rather than the current mechanism of packages allocated to service providers. Allocated funding could only be used to purchase services from approved providers. Assessment, information and advisory services would need to be available as required to assist clients.

To test this approach in Australia, it is recommended that the Department of Health and Ageing undertake a pilot project over the next two years offering 1000 consumer-directed packages, with 250 consumers in four different regions. The pilots should be undertaken across a range of geographical settings including metropolitan, regional and remote areas. A thorough evaluation of the pilot project needs to be undertaken by independent consultants. After the initial trial and evaluation of the consumer-directed care initiative, the prospects for wider implementation should be considered.

Future possibilities

The application of consumer-directed care to residential care is a further consideration to be considered in the future. It would open up greater possibilities for consumers to choose between community and residential care options. The ACFI instrument could continue to be used to assess

and allocate funds commensurate with a person's level of need and capacity and the person could choose to purchase residential, respite or community services, or a mixture of these. The development of an ACFI-like instrument for community-based care would assist in the determination of the level of funding based on level of need. Having more options would empower the consumer because they could decide the best way to meet their needs. Such an option would allow the Commonwealth to use the same allocation method in residential and community care and ensure equity across program guidelines.

Recommendations

This paper reviewed literature on consumer-directed care and concluded that this approach has the potential to improve consumer outcomes, service responsiveness and cost effectiveness in Australian aged care services. It proposes that a consumer-directed care initiative be developed by the Department of Health and Ageing as a strategy for trialling this new approach. The lessons learnt from this trial should inform aged care policy development.

This paper has argued that:

- It is time for consumer-directed care to be trialled in Australia to provide an additional option that would coexist with traditional agency-based services.
- Greater consumer choice could be achieved by the Commonwealth Government working with the aged care sector to develop, trial and evaluate consumer-directed care.
- The Department of Health and Ageing should undertake a pilot project offering 1000 consumer-directed packages in four diverse areas across Australia. Two approaches would be trialled simultaneously. One approach would use flexible individual budgets; and the second would have portability of funds to be used through aged care service providers. Both approaches could be implemented within the framework of the existing funding allocation mechanisms. It is proposed that the trials incorporate a wide range of programs including CACPs, EACH, respite care, planned activity groups and residential care services. The aged care industry should be closely involved in planning the trials, and regional advisory committees with consumer representation should be established to ensure the relevance and integration of the trials with regional service systems.
- A thorough evaluation needs to be undertaken by independent consultants.
- This initiative should be completed within two years and the findings used to inform future policy development.

The trialling of a consumer-directed care initiative would provide a valuable opportunity to explore the strengths and weaknesses of this approach for the Australian market. Consumer-directed care appears to offer a creative, innovative and effective option to meet the needs of older Australians in the twenty-first century.

References

- Administration on Ageing (2006). *Choices for independence: Modernizing the* Older Americans Act: Washington, DC: Department of Health and Ageing.
- The Allen Consulting Group. (2007). *The future of community care*. Melbourne: Victorian Community Care Coalition.
- Barnes, C. (2004). *Independent living, politics and implications*. Paper presented at the Conference on Independent Living, November, Copthorne Tara Hotel, London.
- Benjamin, A. (2008, 2 July). Individual taste. *Guardian Newspaper*. Viewed December 2008. http://www.guardian.co.uk/society/joepublic/2008/jul/02/individualtaste
- Brennan, D. (2006). Community services: challenges for the 21st century. In A. McClelland & P. Smyth (Eds.), Social policy in Australia – Understanding for action (pp. 224–237). South Melbourne, Australia: Oxford.
- Browning, D. (2007). Evaluation of the Self-Directed Support Network: A review of progress up to 31st March 2007, 3rd draft: 31st May 2007. [Leeds, England: Care Services Improvement Programme (CSIP)]. Viewed December 2008. <http://networks.csip.org.uk/_library/Resources/Personalisation/Personalisation_advice/Evaluation_ of_Self_Directed_Support_draft_3_David_Browning_May_07.pdf>
- Caldwell, J. (2007). Experiences of families with relatives with intellectual and developmental disabilities in a consumer-directed support program. *Disability & Society*, 22(6), 549–562.
- Carmichael, A. & Brown, L. (2002). The future challenge for Direct Payments. *Disability & Society*, 17(7), 797–808.
- Commission for Social Care Inspection. (2006a). *Making choices: Taking risks*. Newcastle, England: Commission for Social Care Inspection.
- Commission for Social Care Inspection. (2006b). *Real voices, real choices: The qualities people expect from care services.* Newcastle, England: Commission for Social Care Inspection.
- Commission for Social Care Inspection. (2008). *State of Social Care in England* 2006–07. Newcastle, England: Commission for Social Care Inspection.
- Commonwealth of Australia. (2007). Intergenerational report 2007. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.
- Conroy, J., Fullerton, A., Brown, M., & Garrow, J. (2002). Outcomes of the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation's national initiative on self-determination for persons with developmental disabilities: Final report on three years of research and analysis. Submitted to The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. Princeton, New Jersey: Center for Outcome Analysis.
- Dale, S., Brown, R., & Phillips, B. (2004). *Does Arkansas' Cash and Counseling affect service use and public costs?* Princeton, New Jersey: Mathematica Policy Research Inc.
- Dale, S., Brown, R., & Shapiro, R. (2005). Assessing the appeal of the Cash & Counseling Demonstration in Arkansas, New Jersey, and Florida. Princeton, New Jersey: Mathematica Policy Research, Inc.
- Department of Health. (2007a). *Independence, choice and risk: A guide to best practice in supported decision making*. London: Department of Health.
- Department of Health. (2007b). *Putting people first: A shared vision and commitment to the transformation of adult social care.* London: Department of Health.
- Department of Health and Ageing. (2004a). *A new strategy for community care The way forward*. Canberra: Department of Health and Ageing.
- Department of Health and Ageing. (2004b). *Review of pricing arrangements in residential aged care (the Hogan Report)*. Canberra: Department of Health and Ageing.

Department of Health and Ageing. (2008). Transition Care Program. Viewed 15 July 2008. http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/ageing-transition-guidelines.htm

- Department of Human Services. (2008). Home and Community Care (HACC). Victorian Government Health Information Website. Viewed 29 April 2008. http://www.health.vic.gov.au/hacc/hacc_victoria/funding.htm
- Disability Services Commission. (2003). *Review of the Local Area Coordination Program Western Australia*. Perth: Disability Services Commission.
- Dixon, J. (2007, October). *Individual Budgets and beyond*. Paper presented at the Independent Living Association Conference, West Sussex.
- Edebalk, P. G. (2007, December). *New modes of delivering elderly care in Sweden*. Paper presented at the Swedish–Chinese seminar, Lund, Sweden.
- Edebalk, P. G. (2008). Personal interview. Lund University, Sweden.
- Edebalk, P. G. & Svensson, M. (2005). Kundval för äldre och funktionshindrade i Norden: konsumentperspektivet (Consumer choice for the elderly and functionally impaired in Nordic countries: a consumer perspective). Copenhagen: Norden.
- Feinberg, L., Wolkwitz, K. & Goldstein, C. (2006). Ahead of the curve: Emerging trends and practices in family caregiver support. San Francisco: National Center on Caregiving Family Caregiver Alliance.
- Fisher, K. & Campbell McLean, C. (2007). Attendant Care Direct Funding Pilot Project evaluation: Interim report. Sydney: Social Policy Research Centre and Disability Studies and Research Institute.
- Forder, J. (2007). *Self-funded social care for older people: an analysis of eligibility, variations and future projections.* London: Commission for Social Care Inspection.
- Foster, L., Dale, S., Brown, R., Phillips, B., Schore, J., & Lepidus Carlson, B. (2004). Do consumer-directed Medicaid supportive services work for children with developmental disabilities? Washington DC, USA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation Office of Disability, Aging and Long-Term Care Policy.
- Gauthier, P. (2006). *Employers' review of the CSIL Program*. Vancouver, Canada: British Columbia Paraplegic Association.
- Glynn, H. & Beresford, P. (2008). *Person-centred support. What service users and practitioners say.* York, England: Joseph Rowntree Foundation.
- Head, M. & Conroy, J. W. (2005). Outcomes of self-determination in Michigan. In R. Stancliffe & C. Larkin (Eds.), Costs and outcomes of community services for people with intellectual disabilities (pp. 219–240). Baltimore: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.
- Henwood, M. & Hudson, B. (2007). *Here to stay? Self-directed support: aspiration and implementation*. London: Department of Health.
- Howe, A. (2003, March). *Is consumer-directed care a direction for Australia?* Paper presented at the Alzheimers Australia National Conference, Melbourne.
- Hutchison, P., Lord, J., & Salisbury, B. (2006). North American approaches to individualised planning and direct funding. In J. Leece & J. Bornat (Eds.), *Developments in Direct Payments* (pp. 49–62). Bristol: The Policy Press, University of Bristol.
- in Control. (2008a). England, Scotland and Wales. Viewed June 2008. http://www.in-control.org.uk
- in Control. (2008b). A report on in Control's second phase: Evaluation and learning 2005–07. England: in Control.
- Individual Budgets Evaluation Network. (2007). *Individual Budgets evaluation: A summary of early findings*. [Kent, England: Personal Social Services Research Unit and consortia of universities]. Viewed December 2008. <<u>http://www.york.ac.uk/inst/spru/pubs/rworks/IbsenSummary.pdf</u>>
- JAG Sweden. (2006). Equality, assistance and community (Jämlikhet, Assistans och Gemenskap). Viewed October, 2007. http://www.jag.se/
- Keegan, M. & Ottewell, D. (2007, 17 December). NHS Pays for Season Ticket. *Manchester Evening News*. Viewed December 2008. http://www.manchestereveningnews.co.uk/news/health/s/1028627_nhs_pays_for_season_ticket>

- Kendrick, M. (2001). Family governed flexible family support: The Massachusetts Small Project example. Unpublished manuscript.
- Knapp, M. (2007, October). *Individual Budgets and beyond*. Paper presented at the Independent Living Association Conference, West Sussex.
- Kunkel, S. & Nelson, I. (2006). Case managers' perspectives on consumer direction. In S. Kunkel & V. Wellin (Eds.), *Consumer voice and choice in long-term care* (pp. 77–88). New York: Springer Publishing Company.
- Laragy, C. (2005). Interviews with consumers, government administrators and service providers regarding the effectiveness of consumer-directed care in the United Kingdom and Ireland.
- Laragy, C. (2006). Interviews with consumers, government administrators and service providers regarding the effectiveness of consumer-directed care in Sweden.
- Laragy, C. (2008). 'Outcomes' evaluation 2007. Individualised Funding Project: A project conducted by UnitingCare Community Options, Melbourne: La Trobe University.
- LDC Group (Dimitriadis, L., Laurie, D., Lane, J., & Lyall, M.) (2007). *Evaluation of the Direct Payments Project, final report.* Melbourne: Community & Individual Support, Disability Services, Department of Human Services.
- Leadbeater, C., Bartlett, J., & Gallagher, N. (2008). Making it personal. London: DEMOS.
- LIME Management Group. (2005). *Evaluation of support & choice implementation*. Melbourne: Community & Individual Support, Disability Services, Department of Human Services.
- Lindbloom, E. J., Brandt, J., Cross, S., Phillips, C., Hawes, C., & Bolin, J. (2004). The role of forensic science in identification of mistreatment deaths in long-term care facilities: a descriptive study of death investigations. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 52(4), S31–S31.
- McConkey, R. (2005). Promoting friendships and developing social networks. In G. Grant, P. Goward, M. Richardson & P. Ramcharan (Eds.), *Learning disability: A life cycle approach to valuing people* (pp. 468–490). Maidenhead, England: Open University Press.
- Moullin, S. (2007). *Care in a new welfare society: Unpaid care, welfare and employment*. London: Institute for Public Policy Research.
- Nicholls, A. (2007). Older people's services and individual budgets: good practice: examples and ideas. Commissioned by Judith Whittam, Individual Budget Pilot Advisor for Care Services Improvement Partnership, Leeds. Viewed June 2008. <<u>http://www.integratedcarenetwork.gov.uk/index.cfm?pid=462&catalogueContentID=1978></u>
- The Nous Group. (2006). *Moving to centre stage: Community care for the aged over the next 10 years.* Melbourne: Victorian Community Care Coalition.
- Office for Disability Issues. (2007). *The costs and benefits of independent living*. England: Office for Disability Issues.
- Office for Disability Issues. (2008). Independent living: A cross-government strategy about independent living for disabled people. England: Office for Disability Issues.
- Österle, A. & Hammer, E. (2007). Cash allowances and the formalization of care arrangements: The Austrian experience. In C. Ungerson (Ed.), *Cash for care in developed welfare states* (pp. 13–31). Basingstoke, England: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Otiniano, M. E., Herrera, C. R., & Teasdale, T. A. (1996). Hispanic elder abuse. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 44(9), 63–75.
- Poll, C., Duffy, S., Hatton, C., Sanderson, H., & Routledge, M. (2006). A report on in Control's first phase 2003–2005. London: in Control Publications.
- Priestley, M., Jolly, D., Barnes, C., Mercer, G., Pearson, C., & Riddell, S. (2007). Direct payments and disabled people in the UK: supply, demand and devolution. *The British Journal of Social Work*, 37(7), 1189–1204.

Productivity Commission. (2007). Report on government services 2007. Canberra: Australian Government.

Revill, J. (2007, 9 December). Revolution in home care for old people. The Observer.

- Reynolds, I. (2007). Systems of support and brokerage: Report on interim research evaluation for West Sussex in Control brokerage pilot. West Sussex: Respite independence and supporting employment for carers in West Sussex (RISE).
- Riddell, S., Priestley, M., Pearson, M., Mercer, G., Barnes, C., Jolly, D., et al. (2006). *Disabled people and Direct Payments: A UK comparative study*: Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC) ESRC Award RES-000-23-0263.
- Simon-Rusinowitz, L., Mahoney, K. J., Loughlin, D., & DeBarthe Sadler, M. (2005). Paying family caregivers: An effective policy option in the Arkansas Cash and Counseling Demonstration and Evaluation. *Marriage & Family Review*, 37(1/2), 83.
- Social Care Institute for Excellence. (2007). *Choice, control and individual budgets: Emerging themes.* London: Social Care Institute for Excellence.
- Stainton, T. & Boyce, S. (2004). 'I have got my life back' Users' experience of direct payments. *Disability* & *Society*, 19(5), 443–454.
- Summers, M. (2007). *Great expectations: A policy case study of four case management programs in one organisation*. Unpublished PhD thesis, The University of Melbourne, Australia.
- Swedish Institute. (2000). Disability policies in Sweden. Viewed October 2007. http://socialeurope.com/onfile/country_profiles/swedish_disabili_policy.htm
- Tilly, J. & Rees, G. (2007). *Consumer-directed care: A way to empower consumers?* Sydney: Alzheimers Association Australia.
- Ungerson, C. (2006). Direct payments and the employment relationship: some insights from cross-national research. In J. Leece & J. Bornat (Eds.), *Developments in Direct Payments* (pp. 205–220). Bristol: The Policy Press, University of Bristol.
- Ungerson, C. & Yeandle, S. (2007). Conclusion: dilemmas, contradictions and change. In C. Ungerson & S. Yeandle (Eds.), *Cash for care in developed welfare states* (pp. 187–207). Basingstoke, England: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Wanless, D. & Forder, J. (2006). Securing good care for older people: Taking a long-term view. London: King's Fund.
- Williams, F. (2001). In and beyond New Labour: towards a new political ethics of care. *Critical Social Policy*, 21(4), 467–493.
- Wisconsin Department of Health and Human Services. (2008a). Statewide expansion of managed long-term care. Viewed April 2008. http://dhfs.wisconsin.gov/ManagedLTC/
- Wisconsin Department of Health and Human Services. (2008b). Long-term care and support system. Viewed April 2008. http://www.wcltc.state.wi.us/Goals.htm